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STATEMENT OF ISSUES 

1. The trial court erred in admitting Bob and Lisa's unauthenticated 
passports to prove that they were in Turkey just before the fire. 

2. Admission of the unauthenticated passports violated Albert Kea's 
right to confrontation. 

3. The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the "two-witness" 
rule. 

4. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict or, in the alternative, 
the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. 

5. The errors taken together are cause for a new trial. 



Albert's wife was awarded custody. Albert's ex-wife moved and Albert was 

unable to locate her and their two sons. T. 212. In 1972, Bob was 18 and he 

stole a car. Bob testified that he stole the car to look for his father. T. 88. Albert 

got a call from Bob's grandmother asking for Albert's help. T. 213. Albert 

drove to Denver Colorado and got his son out ofjail. T. 213. 

Bob testified that he lives in Colorado and that he does not work but has 

been disabled for the last six and a half years. T. 41. He admitted that he had 

been convicted of car theft in 1972 when he was seventeen. T. 41-42. When he 

was twenty-three, he was convicted of menacing and resisting arrest. T. 42. In 

1990, when he was thirty-six, he was convicted for passing bad checks and for 

making a false statement on a passport (this is important for reasons that will 

soon become apparent). T. 42. Bob also admitted that he had used various names 

over the years; Robert John Kea was his birth name but he had also been known 

as Robert John Cook, Robert John Beverly, Robert John Anderson and Robert 

John Keys. T. 42-43. Bob did not list for the jury the name of Robert John Key - 

the name in which his passport was issued. 

Bob testified that he had worked as a nurse for twenty years. T. 43. He 

went to nursing school twice because the second time he was on the lam so he 

attended nursing school a second time under a different name so that he could earn 

a living. T. 44. Bob testified that the items contained in the list drawn up by his 



from the Estes Park Museum in Colorado and 15 antique Elgin watches taken 

ftom the Elgin Area Historical Society Museum. When officials went to arrest 

Bob, they discovered that he had fled to Texas. He was tracked to a motel near 

Amarillo. When officers observed Bob leaving his car to walk into the motel, they 

approached him and identified themselves. Bob got back into his car and rammed 

the officers' vehicle. He then drove a mile down the interstate, pulled into a 

parking lot near a gas station, and shot himself in the head and died. Appendix I, 

Ex. A; See also Motion to Dismiss Complaint, Appendix III. 

In Albert's defense, there were several witnesses who testified to having 

seen the various collectibles in Albert's house over the years. Larry Blair worked 

for a pest control business in Brookhaven. T. 145. He began servicing Albert's 

house approximately once a month beginning in 1995. T. 146. On some of those 

occasions, Albert's wife Ann would ask Lany to sit and have coffee and cake with 

her. T. 146. Several of the collectibles at issue were displayed in the kitchen. T. 

147. AM would often bring out an item to show Larry saying "Look what I've 

got this time." T. 147. Lany was asked to review the photos of the collectibles 

and identify those he had seen in the Kea home. T. 149. He was able to identify 

several that had been in the Kea home prior to the fire. T. 149. 

Mary J. Starling testified that she used to live next door to the Keas, was a 

good friend to Ann and visited in the house all the time. T. 15 1-52. Starling 



looked through the photographs of collectibles and identified those she recognized 

as having been in the Kea home. T. 152-167. Starling was familiar with Bob 

Kea. She knew that Ann and Albert had given him money on numerous 

occasions. T. 169. When Albert was in the hospital just before his house burned 

down, Starling saw that Bob was staying at his father's house. She testified that 

on one day, she saw Bob came out of the front door with a garbage bag filled with 

stuff from the house. T. 169. 

Teresa Joy Tisdale testifed that Albert Kea was her husband's uncle. T. 

177. Tisdale did not really know Bob Kea but knew him enough to recognize 

him. T. 177. Tisdale's husband had proposed to her in 1994. Around Christmas 

that year, Tisdale's fiance took her to meet his family. His mother lived in an 

apartment on the Kea property. T. 178. Tisdale was outside smoking when she 

saw Bob Kea taking a gun out of his father's window. He wrapped it in a blanket 

and put it in the trunk of his car. T. 178. Tisdale recognized some of the items 

pictured in the photos of the collectibles at issue in the Entergy lawsuit as items 

that had been in Albert's home. T. 179. 

Lisa Terry Holloway has known Albert and Ann Kea practically all of her 

life. T. 182. Albert's father was married to Holloway's aunt and he (Albert's 

father) practically raised her. T. 182. Holloway would assist Ann in her 

housework. T. 183. She identified many of the collectibles as items she had seen 



in Ann and Albert's house. 183-1 86. She remembers that just prior to the fire 

that burned up Albert's home, Albert was in the hospital. During that time, she 

saw Bob taking things out of the house and putting them in the trunk of his car. T. 

187. Bob was out of breath and so Holloway asked if he needed some help. She 

and her sister Carol and their half-brother Buddy (now deceased) then assisted him 

in loading boxes into his van. T. 188. She did not see what was in the boxes. 

She spent twenty to thirty minutes assisting Bob. T. 189. Afterwards, Bob left 

with the boxes still in his van. T. 189. 

Carol McMillan, like her sister Lisa, had also known Albert and Ann Kea 

all of her life. T. 194. She doesn't remember when it was exactly (she remembers 

that Albert was in the hospital) but she recalls that she, Lisa, and Buddy helped 

Bob load some small boxes into his van. T. 195, 198. 

Helen Williams is Albert's sister. In the 1990s, she lived with her brother. 

T. 200. She was able to identify many of the collectibles as having been in Albert 

and Ann's home. T. 201-204. She had also seen the photographs themselves in 

their home. T. 204. After the fire, Helen testified, Bob offered to help his father 

figure out what the items were worth. He took all of the photos with him and said 

he would make up a list to help his dad out. T. 210. 

Albert testified that his wife Ann, who died in August, 2003, liked 

collectibles. A lot of the things she wanted, she would have Bob purchase for her. 



Ann and Albert would give Bob cash and he would pay for items with his credit 

card and in this way Bob could get free airline miles. T. 214. Bob would travel 

and bring back magazines and Ann would point out the things she wanted and Bob 

would obtain them on his next trip and bring the receipts back to Albert. T. 214- 

15. 

Photographs of the collectibles had been stored in a safe and Albert was 

able to retrieve them after the fire. T. 224. Bob offered to help his father draw up 

a list of the lost items since he had purchased most of them for his father using 

Albert's money. T. 224. 

Right after Ann died, Bob approached his father and asked him for 

$50,000 for a down payment on a home. T. 227. Albert refused. His other 

children needed his help and Albert was ashamed of Bob's criminal activity. T. 

226. A few weeks later, Lisa approached Albert and told him that if he did not 

give Bob the $50,000, Bob was going to jail. T. 227. Lisa left angry when 

Albert refused to give them any money. Albert had not talked to the two since 

then. T. 227. ' 

' The timing of Bob's request for $50,000 coincides with the time that federal authorities 
finally caught up with Bob on the 1991 federal bank fraud charges for which he had been 
on the lam for 13 years. See App. I, Ex. A. As the article in the Rocky Mountain News 
indicates, Bob appeared to have turned his life around at that point and the United 
States District Court Judge ordered Bob to pay back $10,000 in bad checks and sentenced 
him to probation. App. I, Ex. A. 



Albert testified that he did not know that Bob came to his house while 

Albert was in the hospital. T. 228. 

On redirect, the prosecution, over the defendant's objection, introduced 

Bob and Lisa's passports to corroborate their testimony that they had been in 

Turkey the week before the fire. The passports were issued to Robert and Lisa 

Key. The passports were later amended to identify the bearers as Robert and Lisa 

Keys. 



SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The only evidence that Albert Kea pe rjured himself during the Entergy trial 

was supplied by his son Bob and his son's wife Lisa. As a witness, Bob's 

credibility was a problem even if one were to take into account only those crimes 

to which Bob admitted at trial. Fortunately for the prosecution, although its case 

against Albert was based on the testimony of a convicted felon and liar, it had a 

piece of evidence that would buttress Bob's testimony. This evidence consisted of 

Bob and Lisa's passports indicating that Bob and Lisa were out of the country 

when Bob was alleged to have been raiding his father's house. The passports 

could not even be cross-examined. This was a good thing for the prosecution 

given that the passports were not even issued in Bob and Lisa's real names. 

The defense objected to the introduction of the passports without proper 

authentication. This objection was denied. The introduction of the 

unauthenticated, unable-to-be-cross-examined passports, was error and violated 

Albert's right to confront the evidence against him. Under the facts of this case, 

the error was reversible. 

A major error in this case was the failure to give the jury an important 

instruction - that of the "two witness" rule. Had the jury been given some 

guidance on the quantum of proof needed to convict Albert of perjury, they might 



not have voted to convict in this case where the evidence was wholly insufficient 

to support the charge. 

The evidence in this case was insufficient to support the verdict or, in the 

alternative, the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. The only 

admissible evidence that Albert Kea committed perjury, then, was the testimony of 

at Albert's truth-challenged son and the son's wife. This evidence was 

insufficient to establish Albert's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Finally, if no single error requires reversal, it cannot be denied that the 

combination of errors in this case deprived Albert Kea of a fair trial. 

LAW AND ARGUMENT 

1. The trial court erred in admitting Bob and Lisa's unauthenticated 
passports to prove that they were in Turkey just before the fire. 

Albert's witnesses testified that they saw Bob loading his van with boxes 

and bags taken from Albert's house just prior to the fire. Bob and Lisa testified 

that this could not be so as they just happened to be in Turkey that week. On 

redirect, the prosecution entered into evidence Bob and Lisa's passports -which 

were issued in the names of Robert and Lisa Key and later amended to change 

their last name to Keys -- which contained visa stamps purporting to show that 



Bob and Lisa were in Turkey the week of May 17, 1998. T. 257.2 The defense 

objected to the admission of the passports on the grounds they were not 

authenticated. T. 258; RE 11. The trial court overruled the objection and the 

passports were entered into evidence. T. 258; RE. 12. 

During closing argument, the prosecution urged the jury to look at the 

passports back in the jury room. 

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you heard 
those witnesses get up here and say while the 
Defendant was in the hospital the week before the fire 
Bob Kea came down to Magee, Mississippi and loaded 
up a van. 

Now, if they told you that, which they did, they 
are liars. All of them lied. Because you've got proof 
in the pudding there with these passports. He can't be 
in two places at one time, can he? There are the 
passports. You're going to be taking them back there 
ad looking at them. They're going to say just what we 
said they said. 1 didn't keep Lisa Keys on that stand 
very long. She answered the questions just like Bob 
did because they were very quiet, syncly [sic] and that 
was the way it was, no complicated answers to what I 
asked her. She's never had been convicted of nothing 
[sic]. 

T. 299. 

The stamps and seals purporting to be from Turkish customs officials on 

Bob and Lisa's passports are not accompanied by a "a final certification as to the 

The passports are marked as S-19 and S-20 and are located in the manilla envelope 
containing the exhibits. 



genuineness of the signature and official position" of the requisite Turkish 

official. M.R.E. 902(3) requires this before a foreign public document can be 

admitted. 

M.R.E. 902(3) provides as follows: 

3) Foreign public document. A document purporting 
to be executed or attested in the official capacity of an 
individual authorized by the laws of a foreign country 
to make the execution or attestation, and accompanied 
by a final certification as to the genuineness of the 
signature and official position (i) of the executing or 
attesting individual, or (ii) of any foreign official 
whose certificate of genuineness of signature and 
official position relates to the execution or attestation 
or is in a chain of certificates of genuineness of 
signature and official position relating to the execution 
or attestation. A final certification may be made by a 
secretary of embassy or legation, consul general, 
consul, vice consul, or consular agent of the United 
States, or a diplomatic or consular official of the 
foreign country assigned or accredited to the United 
States. If all parties have been given a reasonable 
opportunity to investigate the authenticity and 
accuracy of an official document, the court may for 
good cause shown order that it be treated as 
presumptively authentic without final certification or 
permit it to be evidenced by an attested summary with 
or without final certification. 

A passport must be authenticated in order to be admitted into evidence. 

Gullotta v. United States, 113 F.2d 683, 686 (gth Cir. 1940). In United States v. 

Weiss, 491 F.2d 460 (2d Cir. 1974) cer. denied 419 U.S. 833,95 S.Ct. 58,42 



L.Ed.2d 59, the defendant wanted to introduce his passport in order to prove that 

he was not in Bangkok at the time was alleged to have met with his coconspirator. 

The passports bore no stamps or entries indicating that the bearer was in Thailand 

during the relevant period. The trial court excluded the passports on the ground 

that they had not been authenticated properly. On appeal, the Second Circuit 

agreed that the passports were inadmissible. For the passports to be admitted to 

prove what the defendant wanted them to prove - that he was not in Bangkok 

during a certain time period - this would require "proof by authorities of Thailand 

that if [the defendant] had entered or left that country during the relevant period 

entries would surely have been placed upon the passports. Weiss, 491 F.2d at 460. 

In a civil case, the defendant moved to have her passport admitted into 

evidence to prove that she was in Hong Kong during the time that she was 

allegedly served with the complaint in New York. Overseas Trust Bank LTD v. 

Poon, 581 N.Y.Supp.2d 92 (1991). Stamps in her passport indicated that she 

entered Hong Kong in early April, 1988 and left at the end of the month. The trial 

court refused to admit the passport to prove the defendant's whereabouts. On 

appeal, the New York Supreme Court held that exclusion of the passport was not 

error where the defendant offered "no attestation or testimonial authentication by 

the Hong Kong authorities who had affixed the stamps on her passport. Overseas 

Trust Bank, 581 N.Y.S.2d at 93. 



The passports in this case were not even issued to Robert Kea in his real 

name. Instead, they were issued to Bob and his wife under first one of his aliases 

and then corrected to reflect a different alias. The passports were inadmissible 

without proper authentication. If there were any case where that rule should not 

be relaxed, it is this one wherein the passports were not even issued under the 

bearers' real names. 

Given the importance of the passports to the prosecution's case -Bob's 

word alone was certainly not worthy of much consideration - their introduction 

without proper authentication could not be considered harmless error. And 

authentication was sorely needed here where the bearer of the passport not only 

employed various names but also had been convicted of making a fraudulent 

statement on a passport. 

2. Admission of the unauthenticated passports violated Albert Kea's 
right to confrontation. 

The comment to M.R.E. 902 warns that "When self-authenticating records 

are offered against the defendant in criminal cases, the rights of the defendant 

under the confrontation clauses of Federal and State Constitutions must be 

considered." The United States Constitution as well as the Mississippi 

Constitution, provides that a defendant has the right to be confronted with the 

witnesses against him. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Article 3, Section 26 of the 



Mississippi Constitution of 1890. While the United States Supreme Court has 

held that the confrontation clause is satisfied by evidence that falls "within a 

firmly rooted exception to the hearsay rule," when it did so, it held that the 

Confrontation Clause was satisfied when the proffered hearsay has sufficient 

guarantees of reliability to come within a firmly rooted exception to the hearsay 

rule. White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 112 S.Ct. 736, 116 L.Ed.2d 848 (1992) 

(holding that admission of excited utterances and medical examination evidence 

without foundation testimony or proving unavailability of witness did not violate 

Confrontation Clause of criminal defendant facing sexual assault charges). The 

reason for this is that "a statement that qualifies for admission under a 'firmly 

rooted' hearsay exception is so trustworthy that adversarial testing can be expected 

to add little to its reliability." White, 112 S.Ct. at 743. 

The unauthenticated visa stamps in the passports issued to Robert KeyIKeys 

and Lisa KeyiKeys are not sufficiently reliable as to preclude any concern for 

Albert Kea's right to confront the evidence against him especially given that the 

passports were issued under aliases - indeed, two different aliases - to a person 

previously convicted of making a false statement on a passport. T. 42. This 

violation of Albert Kea's right to confront the evidence against him requires that 

he be given a new trial. 



3. The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the "two- 
witness" rule. 

Albert Kea's jury may not have convicted him on such flimsy evidence if 

the jury had been properly instructed on the "two-witness" rule. "It has long been 

the law of Mississippi that an instruction concerning the quantity of evidence 

required in a pe jury trial should be given by the State." Hale v. State, 648 So.2d 

53  1, 536 (Miss. 1994). The failure to give such an instruction is reversible error. 

Id. citing Nash v. State, 244 Miss. 857, 147 So.2d 499,502 (1962); Gordon v. 

State, 158 Miss. 185, 128 So. 769 (1930); Saucier v. State, 95 Miss. 226,48 So. 

840, 841 (1909) and Weiler v. UnitedStates, 323 U.S. 606,611,65 S.Ct. 548, 

551,89 L.Ed. 495 (1945). 

While the defense in this case did not request an instruction on the "two- 

witness" rule, some instructions are so important that the trial court has a duty to 

give them sua sponte. Robinson v. State, 735 So.2d 208 (Miss. 1999) (holding 

that the trial judge has a responsibility to give sua sponte a limiting instruction 

when prior convictions are sought to be admitted under M.R.E. 609(a)(2)). This is 

the case with regard to the quantum of evidence required in a perjury case. In 

Nash v. State, 44 Miss. 857, 862, 147 So.2d 499, 501 (Miss.1962) neither the state 

nor the defense requested an instruction on the two witness rule. The Court 

reversed noting that it 



has held in a long line of decisions that, although the 
other allegations of the indictment may be proved by a 
single witness, the falsity of the allegedly perjured 
statement must be established by the testimony of at 
least two witnesses or by one witness and 
corroborating circumstances and a conviction for 
perjury may not be secured and sustained on the 
uncorroborated testimony of one witness to the falsity 
of the allegedly perjured statement on which the 
pcrjury is assigned. 

Nash, 147 So.2d at 502. 

Furthermore, the Court stated, 

The jurors empaneled to try the perjury case were the 
sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and the 
weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. It 
was important that the jurors be correctly informed as 
to the 'quantity' of proof required to authorize a 
conviction for perjury; and the State, somewhere in its 
own charges, should have asked that the jury be 
informed that, before they could convict, it must be 
shown to their satisfaction by the testimony of two 
witnesses or the testimony of one witness and 
corroborating circumstances that the appellant's 
allegedly perjured testimony before the grand jury was 
false. 

Nash, 147 So.2d at 503. 

The trial court committed reversible error by failing to instruct the jury in 

accordance with the "two witness" rule as required in perjury cases. Given the 

quality of the evidence in this case - or, rather, the lack of quality of the evidence 

in this case - the failure of the trial court to properly instruct the jury on the two 

I .  witness rule was reversible error. 



4. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict or, in the alternative, 
the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. 

Mississippi's perjury statute provides, in pertinent part, that "[elvery person 

who shall wilfully and corruptly swear, testify, or affirm falsely to any material 

matter undcr any oath ... shall be guilty of perjury ...." Miss.Code Ann. § 97-9-59 

(Rev.2000). Perjury requires stringent proof of a direct and compelling character. 

Hall v. State, 75 1 So.2d 1161 (Miss.App. 1999). In order to convict on a charge of 

perjury, the prosecution must prove the falsity of the accused's statement by a 

minimum of two witnesses, or by one witness and corroborating circumstances. 

Fordv. State, 956 So.2d 301, 307 (Miss.App. 2006); Hammett v. State, 797 

So.2d 258, 262 (Miss.Ct.App.2001). This burden is similar to that required to 

prove treason. Smallwood v. State, 584 So.2d 733,741 (Miss. 1991). 

In the case sub judice no reasonable fair-minded juror could find Albert 

Kea guilty. The evidence presented by the State was insufficient as a matter of law 

to support a conviction and the jury's verdict was not supported by the 

overwhelming weight of the evidence. 

Where the evidence is insufficient, the court must vacate the conviction. 

Where the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the 

conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. 

Evidence is insufficient where the evidence "viewed in the light most 



favorable to the prosecution gives equal or nearly equal circumstantial support to a 

theory of guilt and a theory of innocence of the crime charged, then a reasonable 

jury must necessarily entertain a reasonable doubt." Clark v. Procunier, 755 F.2d 

394,396 (5" Cir. 1985); United States v. Sacerio, 952 F.2d 860, 865-66 (5" Cir. 

1992) (a "plausible, rational, innocent explanation for almost every action, thus 

[lends] reasonable doubt to an inference of guilt"). If a reasonable jury would 

doubt whether the evidence proves an essential count, reversal is required. Jackson 

v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307,99 S.Ct. 2781,61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); Unitedstates v. 

Onick, 889 F.2d 1425 (51h Cir. 1989). 

In Carr v. State, 208 So.2d 886 (Miss.1968), the Mississippi Supreme 

Court stated that in considering whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain a 

conviction in the face of a motion for directed verdict or for judgment 

notwithstanding the verdict, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows 

"beyond a reasonable doubt that accused committed the act charged, and that he 

did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and 

where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." 

Carr, 208 So.2d at 889. 

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated on numerous occasions that 

when determining whether a verdict should be overturned that the "Court must 

accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when 



convinced that the circuit court has abused it discretion in failing to grant a new 

trial." Dudley v. State, 719 So.2d 180, 182 (Miss. 1998). Under this standard, the 

prosecution is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be 

drawn from the evidence." Grzfln v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss. 1992). 

When making this review, the Court will reverse only if the jury's verdict is "so 

contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand 

would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Dilworth v. State, 909 So.2d 73 1, 

737 (Miss. 2005). The evidence is weighed "in the light most favorable to the 

verdict." Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005). 

A challenge to the weight of the evidence requires the State to have a 

greater quantum of evidence than does a challenge to the sufficiency of the 

evidence. Pharr v. State, 465 So.2d 294,302 (Miss.1984). The jury's verdict 

should be overturned when "from the whole circumstances, the testimony is 

contradictory and unreasonable, and so highly improbable that the truth of it 

becomes so extremely doubtfd that it is repulsive to the reasoning of the ordinary 

mind." Thomas v. State, 129 Miss. 332,92 So. 225,226 (1922). 

When reviewing the sufficiency of evidence in a case, the Court must 

determine "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of 



the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Gray v. State, 926 So.2d 961, 

968 (Miss.App. 2006). 

The sole admissible evidence in this case came from Bob Kea, a self- 

admitted thief and liar who had a motive to testify against his father because his 

father had refused to give him any more money. 

Furthermore, during its prosecution of the case, the state appeared to 

believe that Albert was guilty of perjury regardless of whether his testimony that 

the collectibles burned up in the fire was delivered knowing it was wrong. When 

cross-examining Albert's witnesses who had testified that they had seen the 

disputed items in Albert Kea's house, the prosecution asked them whether they 

had seen the items the week before the fire3 - as if Albert could be guilty of 

perjury even if the jury believed Albert's defense (that he did not know that his 

testimony was untrue because he was unaware his son had emptied his house of 

valuables prior to the fire). But for testimony to be considered perjury, the witness 

must have testified "with the willful intent to provide false testimony, rather than 

as a result of confusion, mistake, or faulty memory." United States v. Dunnigan, 

507 U.S. 87,94, 113 S.Ct 11 11, 122 L.Ed2d 445 (1993) (citations omitted). It is 

well established that a perjury conviction can only be based on a willful material 

Larry Blair was asked by the prosecution "So you don't know if they burned in 
the house fire or not, do you?" T. 150. Mary Starling was asked by the prosecution 
"And you don't know what burned up in the fire and what didn't burn up." T. 76. 



falsehood and not on inaccurate testimony stemming from confusion, mistake, or 

faulty memory. Unitedstates v. Dunnigan, 507 U.S. 87,95 (1993). It is beyond 

debate that false testimony provided as a result of carelessness, misunderstanding, 

mistaken conclusions, unjustified inferences testified to negligently, misleading 

impressions, or even recklessness do not amount to perjury. United States v. 

Dean, 55 F.3d 640,659 (D.C.Cir. 1995). If Albert did not know the items were 

not in the house at the time of the fire, his testimony that they were in the house 

and were burned in the fire could not be perjury. 

As stated previously, perjury requires stringent proof of a direct and 

compelling character. Hall, 75 1 So.2d at 1164. The uncorroborated testimony of 

a disgruntled convicted thief and liar is not sufficient to support Albert Kea's 

perjury conviction. 

5. The errors taken together are cause for a new trial. 

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that several errors not 

individually sufficient to warrant a new trial may, when taken together, require 

reversal. Stringer v. State, 500 So.2d 928,946 (Miss. 1986); Hickson v. State, 

472 So.2d 379,385-86 (Miss. 1985). In this case, the court made several 

errors in its evidentiary rulings that, cumulatively, had the effect of denying 

Arthur Woods a fair trial. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284,298,93 

S.Ct. 1038, 1047 (1973) (reversing based on various evidentiary errors 



resulting in a denial of due process). If this Court finds that no single error in 

this case calls out for reversal of the convictions andlor sentences, it should 
8 8 

nonetheless consider a new trial based on the plethora of errors that prevented 

Albert Kea from obtaining due process. 

Conclusion 

For these reasons, Albert Kea's conviction and sentence must be vacated or 
f 

reversed and remanded for a new trial. 

Respecthlly submitted, 

ALBERT J. KEA 
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Jackson, MS 39201 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS THE STATE OF MlSSlSSIPPl 

ALBERT J. KEA 

VS. 

APPELLANT 

1 FEB 2 6 1107 / NO. 2006-kaO1383 -COA 

APPELLEE 

MOTION OF APPELLANT FOR REMAND FOR 
EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

Appellant, by and through counsel, requests that this Court stay the proceedings in 

this court and remand the lower court for a hearing involving newly discovered evidence, 

and in support would show: 

Appellant Albert J. Kea was tried in the Circcut Court of Sirnpson County, 

Mississippi. on an indictmen1 charging perjury arisinz out of a civil trial involving a fire at 

his residence. At that civil trial, Mr. Kea claimed that cenain personal property belonging to 

him had been destroyed in the f in 

The principal witnesses against Mr. Kea were his son Robert Kea and Robert's wife 

I.isa. Both tesrified that the property was not at the housc at the time ol'the fire and that it in 

fact belonged to them, rather than to Robert's rather Albcrt, Albert's clefcnsc was that hc 

wits in the hospital at the time of the fire and had been for somc time prior to thc fire but that 

at the time he was hospilali~ed the property had been at the housc and belonged to him. not 

Robert or Lisa. 

According to Albert, he believed his son Robert had removed the subject property 

without his permission prior to tho fire and without his knowledge. Witnesses confirmed 

hlbert's claim that the property had actually been in the house prior to the fire. 

Notwithstanding Albert's defense, the jwy apparently chose to credit Robert and Lisa's 

testimony and convicted Albert. 



After the trial, Counsel for Albert discovered that Robert had a criminal career of 

tluly epic proportions-informationoation which was unavailable to Albert despite due diligence 

to discover if Robert had a prior criminal record. For example, prior to the trial, defense 

counsel were provided with discovery by the state, none of which revealed the extent of 

previous wrongdoing on behalf of Robert and Lisa-in particular Robert's convictions- 

some of which were apparently under different names. such as Robert J. Keys, Robert L. 

Anderson, Robert Cook and Robert Beverlin. See, News Articles attached as composite 

Exhibit A which describe Robert as a "modernday Frank Abagnale, Jr., the real-life con 

artist portrayed by Leonardo DiCaprio in the movie Ca~ch Me WYou Can. " Id.  

Robert's extensive criminal career as the "Traveling Collector" -a notorious an thief 

and con-man-were revealed to Albert after the trial when Robert committed suicide in 

November of 2006 while being pursued by the United States Marshall's fugitive task force 

who were attempting to arrest him afier a two decades long search. See, fihibir A. 

Furthermore, in addition to the discoveries regarding Robert's life of crime, Albert 

Kea's other son and Robert's brother, Lany, provided Albert's trial counsel with letters 

written by Robert Kea after the trial which reveal that Robert and Lisa deliberately 

committed pejury at Albert's trial-apparently in order to obtain the subject property for 

themselves and because of Robert's hatred for his father. Copies ofthose leners are attached 

as composite Exhibit B. 

At the time of the letters, the property was the subject of lawsuits involving Robert 

and Lisa and others over who would ultimately receive the property--art works and antiques 

with substantial monetaty value. Robert and Lisa were also involved in divorce proceedings 

in which ownership of the property was also contested. 



From the letters, it is apparent that both Robert and Lisa lied at Albert's trial about 

matters material to the defense case, including the true ownership of the property and 

Robert's convictions. In fact, Robert specifically admits to lying in order to get his father 

convicted. It also appears h m  the letters that this is not the first time that the two have 

perjured themselves. Robert admits to numerous instances where he and Lisa, either alone or 

together, filed false insurance claims and lied under oath. 

Robert's letters as well as the media articles reveal that he and Lisa have engaged in 

a "life of crime." Obviously, Robert and Lisa's prior criminal convictions and pending 

charges were material to the jury's decision to credit Robert and Lisa's trial testimony 

regarding the property. Since their credibility was the central issue in the case, absence of 

information regarding past frauds and convictions cannot be harmless error. Ihis evidence 

should have been provided to the defense so that the jury could adequately judge Robert and 

Lisa's credibility. 

Thirteen witnesses testified at trial that Robert was in Simpson County at a time that 

his father was in the hospital and, therefore, could have removed the property from the 

house without his father's knowledge. Robert, however, produced a passport at trial showing 

that he was in Turkey at a time when witnesses claimed to have seen him. However, Robert 

previously has been convicted of possession of a fictitious passport, and it now seems clear 

that there is a substantial probability that the passport was forged as Albert claimed. 

This case prescnts a highly unusual circumstance where an innocent man may well 

have been convicted due to the vindictiveness and greed of his son and his son's wife. 

Obviously, the information contained in this motion wuld be presented after a direct appeal 

by way of a motion for post-conviction relief; however, this Court might save a substantial 



amount of time by remanding the case for an evidentiary hearing which might well obviate 

the need for a direct appeal. 

A fair trial requires that a defendant be able to cross-examine witnesses so that the 

jury can judge credibility. Giglio v. United Slates, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1972) [setting aside 

conviction where the government failed to disclosure its promise to a testifying 

accomplice that he would not be prosecuted in retum for his cooperation In Giglio, the 

Court held that 

"when the 'reliability of a given witness may well be determinative of 
guilt or innocence,' nondisclosure of evidence affecting credibility falls 
within [the general rule of ~ r a d ~ ] '  . . . . Here the Government's case 
depended almost entirely on [one witness'] testimony . . . . [His] 
credibility as a witness was therefore an important issue in the case, and 
evidence of any understanding or agreement as to a future prosecution 
would be relevant to his credibility and the jury was entitled to know of 
it." 

Id., 92 S.Ct. at 766. 

In the instant case, the prosecution did not reveal to the defendant that Robert had 

numerous prior convictions involving fraudulent activity. Here, the reason for the failure 

to disclose is not clear, and in fairness to the prosecution may have been in part due to the 

elaborate efforts of Robert to disguise his identity. Notwithstanding, the notion that a fair 

trial requires disclosure is true regardless of whether the failure to disclose was 

inadvertent or deliberate. The witnesses in Kea's trial were unable to judge the credibility 

of the chief witnesses against Albert. 

' In Bra& v. MaryIand, 373 US. at 87-88,83 S.Ct. at 1 196, the Supreme Court held that 
suppression of information materially favorable to an accused violates due process 
regardless of the good or bad faith of the prosecution. Impeachment material is clearly 
exculpatory and qualifies as Brady material. United Slates v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 105 
S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1984). The same is true of evidence which provides an 



"The thnrst of Gigiio and its progeny has been to ensure that the jury knows the 

facts that might motivate a witness in giving testimony . . . ." Smith v. Kemp, 771 F.2d 

1459, 1467 (I 1 th Cir.), cer!. denied 464 U.S. 1003, 104 S . e .  510, 78 L.Ed.2d 699 

(1983), which testimony "could . . . in any reasonable likelihood have affected the 

judgment of the jury." Giglio, 405 U.S. at 154,92 S.Ct. at 766, quoting Napue v. Illinois. 

360 U.S. 264,79 S.Ct. 1 173,3 L.Ed.2d 1217 (1959). The constitutional concerns address 

the realities of what might induce a witness to testify falsely, and the jury is entitled to 

consider those realities in assessing credibility. 

The newly discovered evidence here makes it practically conclusive that a different 

jury viewing the evidence, including the impeachment evidence, would acquit Mr. K e e  

This Court does not ordinarily remand cases for the type of evidentiary hearing 

requested here; however, Appellant is aware of a few cases in which is has done by 

unpublished order and suggets that this is one of those rare cases where extraordinary 

measures may be appropriate. 

WHEREFORE, Albert Kea respectfully requests that this Court stay the briefing in 

this case, remand the case to the Circuit Court for a hearing to see if newly discovered 

evidence warrants the lower court in granting a new trial. If a new trial is denied, Kea 

requests that the transcript and order be made a part of the instant record on appeal and the 

two appeals consolidated with the briefing schedule established once the remand is complete 

and the record h m  the remand complete and filed with this Court Alternatively, if the 

Court denies this motion, Appellant requests that this Court gant Kea an additional thirty 

days h m  the denial in which Lo file his brief and record excerpts. 

additional, though not exclusive, basis of impeachment. Monroe v. Blackburn, 607 F.2d 

5 



Respectfully submitted, 
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United States District Court 

DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

UNlTED STATES OF AMERICA 
v. 

ROBERT JOEIN KEA 
&/a Robat J. KBys 
alda Robmt John Keys 
M a  Robert L. Andemon 
alWa Robert John Bwerlin 
alkla Robert John Cook 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

CASE NUMBER. 

CbM. - 6 'a-36 

I, the undersigned complainant being duly sworn state the following is true and correct to the bsst of my 

knowledge &belief. On or about . in County, in the State and District of Colorado 
defendant did, p ~ h u u l r - d ~ m  

See Attachment A attached hereto and haein incorporated by r e f m e  

in violation of Title 18 United States Code, Section §41.922(&1). and 2314 . I funher state that 11 a 

National Park Service - Suecia1 A= and that thin complaint is based an the following facts: 

See Affidavit attached hereto and herein incorporated by reference 

Continued on the attached sheet and madt a part hemot Yea 0 No 

Sworn to before me, and subscribed in my praence 



The United States Attorney charges that : 

On ar about Oetobcr 31,2006, in tbe State and District of Colorado, ROBERT JOHN KBA, defendant 

herein, knowingly and unlawfully received, wnccaled, and retained a thing of value of the United State and the 

National Park Service, with intent to convett the same to his own use and gain, knowing it to have been stolcn 

and converted, to wit: a .52 Caliber Leman Rifle, National Park Service (NPS) Rtcard Id number 11345, all in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 641. 

COUNTZ 

The United States Attorney further charges that : 

Oa or about June 2005, in the State and District of Colorado and elsewhere, ROBERT JOHN KEA. 

defendant hemin, transported in interstate cornmace from Illinois to Colorado, goods andmerchandise with a 

value in excws of $5,000.00, the defendants well lolowing the same to have been stolen, to wit: appmximatdy 

15 antique Elgin watches and 4 painted dials takm from the Elgin National Watch Company, all in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2314. 

COUNT3 

The United States Attorney further chsrges that : 

Oa or about October 3 1,2006, in the State and Dishict of Colorado, ROBERT JOHN KEA, defendant 

herein, who had been convicted on or about April 2005, United States District Court for the District of 

Colorsdo, case number 91-cr-376-RB, under the name of Robert I.. Andason, for the orimes of Bank Fraud, 18 

U.S.C. 8 1344 and False Statement an Application and Use of a Passport, 18 U.S.C. 8 1542, fcloniespunishable 

by imprisonment for a m  exceeding one yesr, lrnowingly and unlawfully possessed firearms, to wit: 

approximately 30 rifles and handguns and ammunition, which hwma had been shipped and hrmsported in 

interstate commerce, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922 ml). 



Affidavit in Support of Criminal Complaint 

1) Your Affiant, Clvde E. Yee, is a Suecia1 Aent  with the Office of Criminal 
' lnvestigation;, Nkional park service, ~ n i &  States Department of the Interior, 

and has been employed a s  a Federal Law Enforcement Officer since 1980. 
Your Affiant is a graduate of the Basic Law Enforcement and Criminal 
investigators Training Academies fium the Federal Law Enfoment  Training - 
C e n t ~ b d  has cornpietad numerous advanced tmbhg pr0gmn.s. The 
information set forth in this &davit is tbe result of my own investigation or has 
been communicated to me by other law enforcement oEcers involved in this 
investigation. 

2) Your Affiant was provided infonnrdion from Detective Brian Gorwwki, Elgin, 
Illinois, Police Department, who has been so employed for seventeen (17) years. 

3) Your Afliant was provided information fmm Special Agent Rebecca Sauerhaft, 
Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, Denver Office, who has been so employed by 
ATF for over six (6) years and as a Federal Law Enforcement Officer for over 
twelve (12) years. 

4) Your Affiant has prepared (his affidavit in support of a criminal complaint 
against Robert John KEA, also known as; Robert John Keys, Robert Cook, 
Robert John Beverlin, and Robert Lewis Aadcrson. 

5) Your Af6ant believes that Robert John KEA violated litie 18 United States 
Code. Section 641 (Theft of Government Prouertvl. Title 18 United States . .,, 
code; Section 2314(1nterstate Transportation of Stolen Property), Title 18 
United States Code, Section 922{g) [Convicted Felon in Possession of Firearm . 
ar Ammunition). 

6) Title 18 United States Code, Section 64 1; Theft of Government Property 
provides in relevant part that: 'Lwhowerembezzles, steals, purloins or 
knowingly converts to his use.. .thing of value of the United States or of any 
department or agency themf...shall be fined under this title or imprisoned ..." 
The word ''value" means face, p or market value, or wst price, either 
wholesale or retail, whichever is greater. 

7) Title 18 United States Code, Section 23 14; Interstate Transportation of Stolen 
Property provides in relevant part that: "Whoever transports, transmits, or 
transfers in interstate or foreign commerce any goods, wares, merchandise, 
securities or monay, of value of $5,000 or more, knowingthe same to have been 
stolen converted or taken by fraud shall be fined under this title or 
imprison ed..." 



8) T i e  18 United States Code, Section 922(g); Convicted Felon in Possession of 
F i  or Ammunition provides that it is unlawfid for any person who bas 
been wnvicted in any court of a crime punishable by imprisonment For a term 
exceeding one year to. ..possess in or affecthg nrmmcrce, any firearm or 
ammunition; or to receive any firearm or ammunition which has boen shipped 
or tmnspcuted in interstate or foreign commerce. 

9) Title 16 United States Code, Section l(b - c); The United States Departmentof 
Interior, National Park Service has the authority to investigate criminal 
violations occurring witbin or arising out of offenses wmmiaed within the 
National Park System, to include thoa within the Federal Judicial District of 
Colorado and to cooperate with any State or political subdivision thaeof in the 
enforcement of supervision of the laws or ordiianoes of that State or 
subdivision. 

The basis for my belief is set forth below: 

10) On January 31,2006, at approximately 200 pm, it was discovered by museum 
staffat the Estes Park Museum, 200 4' S m t ,  EStes Park, Colorado, that a 
"Leman Trade Rifle" had been forcibly removed and stolen from its wall 
mounted display. The stolen rifle was mounted in a secluded display away h m  
the staffed information desk. The Ems Park Museum is a small museum with 
limited staffing especially during the winter months. 

11)The stolen Leman Trade Rifle is United States Government Property and owned 
by the United States Depamnent of interior, National Park Service, Grand Teton 
National Park, and was on loan m the Estes Park Museum since April 1,1998, 
with an outgoing loan extension set to expire on April 1,2009. 

12)On May 18,2006, Cumtor Becky Latanich, Estes Park Museum, advised that 
she believes that the thief "cased" the museum prior to the theft and returned 
later knowing exactly what be wanted to steal &d what tools were required to 
remove the object, in this case the Leman Trade Rifle securedto the display 
wall with a bracket and wire. The wire that secured the rifle to the display wall 
was cut using some typs of tool, then us@ the rifle itself as leverage the 
bracket was pulled from the display wall. 

13) Oficer Greg Filsinger, Estes Park Police Department, took the initial theA 
report and Detective Jim Kenney was assigned the follow-up investigation 
under Estes Park Police Department case number: 06-125. 



14) Supervisory Law Enforcement Park Ranger Tim Phillips, Rocky Mountain 
National Park, also documented the theA under case number: ROMO-060253. 

15) The Leman Trade Rifle was made by Henry Lemm of Leman Firearms, 
Lancaster, Pennsylvania, between 1845 and 1870: Tbis par!icular Leman Trade 
Rifle is in very good condition with modification8 or alterations made by the 
previous unknown Indian owner which increases its value. Leman Trade Rifles 
were "plains rifles" intended for western use and popular with white hunten of 
the period as well as Indians. Leman established his shop in Lancaster, PA, in 
1834, and obtained his fimt Indien Bureau Contract for rifles in 1837. Niety 
percent of aU muzzle loading rifles captured from hostile Indians in the 1870's 
were made by Leman. 

16)This Leman Rifle is described as a percussion rifle with hard maple stock, 
heavy barrel, small brass patch box and stock plate, a wooden m o d  matked 
"Leman Lanctr Pa", .52 caliber, 47 inches long overall length, 32"octagonal 
barrel. This Leman Rifle has been assigned the following identifying numbers; 
NPS Accession #GRTE-00195, NPS Catalog #GRTE 1626, NPS Record ID 
#11345, and may have one or several of these numbers affixed to a part of the 
Leman Trade Rifle. 

17) According to Curator John McCabe, Springfield Armory, this Leman Trade 
Rifle, GRTE 1626, is "in very good condition, but with Indian modifications or 
alteration, valued at $4,000 - $6,000." 

18) On September 20,2006, Detective Brian Gorcowski, Elgin, Illinois, Police 
Department, identified Robert John KEA, also known as; Robert Cook, Robert 
John Beverlin, Robert John Keys and Robert Lewis Anderson as a possible 
suspect in the theft of the Lemm Trade Rifle from Estes Park Museum. 

19)Detective Brian Gorcowski advised that Lisa Keys in September 2006, the 
estranged wife of Robert John KEA reported to him that KEA told her that HE 
stole the Leman Trade Rifle from the Estes Park Museum and showed her the 
Leman Trade Rifle that HE had stolen in December 2005. Gorcowski also 
advised that Lisa Keys reported to him that KEA stole Ntaen (15) historic 
(1893 - 1945) pocket watches from 'the Elgin Area Historical Society Museum, 
360 Park Street, Elgin, Illinois, while he was there on vacation in June 2005. 
Gomwski advised that fifteen (15) historic Elgin Watches were stolen 
sometime between June 2,2005, and June 14,2005. Gomowski advised that 
KEA is a watch collector and would not sell these stolen watches KEA is also 
a member of theNational Association of Watch and Clock Collectors, Inc. 



20) M v e  Omwslii describes the stolen watches as follows: 

a) Elgin National Watch Company I893 BW Raymond movement, 
serial #5048087 with only 74,500 rnade 

b) Elgin National Watch Company 1897 Railroad grade, 
BW Raymond movement, &al#7661931 with only 14,000 made 

c) ElginNational Watch Company 1896, serial #6978048,211,000 made 
d) Elgin National Watch Company 1903 Railroad, serial #13120692. 

18.000 made 
e) Elgin National Watch Company 1909, serial #14783963,272,700 made 
fl El& National Watch Comuanv 191 I. serial #16891646.323.000 made - - 
) Elgin National Watch Comb;  1914;serial#18713295; 1,0&,000 made 
h) Elain National Watch Company 1918, serial #21744521,730,000 made 
i) EI& ~ational Watch company 1921; serial #24641005,564,000 made 
j) Elgin 1921 Lord Elgin movement, serial #24791425,14,000 made 
k) Elgin National Watch Company 1922 The Boulevard model, 

serial #2531827,1,000,000 made 
1) Elgin 1925 Streamline model, serial #28208824,169,000 made 
m) EleinNational Watch Comcanv 1925. serial #28311478,1.500,000 made . - 
n) ~ l & ~ a t i o n a l  Watch Company 1925; serial #28517118; 1 ;500;000 made 
O) ElginNational Watch Company 1945 Railmad model, 

BW Raymond movemen~&al#1375964,87,000 made 

21)Detective Gomwski advised that the fifteen (15) stolen Elgin watches, 
together, are valued at $15,000, which was the maximum allowable amount 
they could be insured for "due to a maximum insurance cap." 

22) On June 14,2005, the Elgin, Illinois, Police Department took a report of the 
theft of the fifteen (15) watches From the Elgin Area Historical Society 
Museum. 



23) Detective Gorcowski a d M  Lisa Keys stated to him that KEA on three- 
separate conversations told her about aid showed her these stolen Elgin 
watches; the first time Lisa Keys saw these wstches she believes was in mid to 
late June 2005, the reason she saw the watches in June was that KEA had just 
come back from a vacation trip alone to Wisconsin in wbich HE went to see a 
spy museum. KEA told Lisa Keys that during this trip HE stopped in Elgin, 
Illinois, and stole pocket watches and dink h m  an Elgin museum. Lisa Keys 
recalls seeing approximately 10-12 watches and several fancy dials for the 
watches. Lisa Keys told KEA that she did not believe HE stole the watches. 
KEA then showed her the stolen watches. This occuned at their residence; 4212 
S. Fairplay Circle, Unit E, Aurora, Colorado. KEA brought the watches and 
fancy dials into the bedroom whcre Lisa Keys viewed them. 

Detective Ciomwski advised that Lisa Keys stated to him that the second time 
she saw the watches was when KEA ordered a reference book on Elgin Watches 
and was looking through this book showing her the watches as they reviewed 
thii reference book. Lisa Keys stated that this also occurred at their residence; 
4212 S. Fairplay C i l e ,  Unit E, Aurora, Colorado, sometime after June of 2005. 

Detective Gorcowski advised that Lisa Keys stated to him that the thiud time she 
saw the Elgin pocket watches was in the end of January 2006. On this occasion 
she was packing her belongings to move out of their residence; 4212 S. Fairplay 
Circle, Unit E, Aurora, Colorado. Lisa Keys was again in the bedroom ofthe 
residence when she saw appmximately 30 pocket watches in an 8x10 or 10x10 
cardboard box. KEA told her that the jewelry contained within this cardboard 
box, the watches and several other pieces ofjewelry were HIS and that she 
could only have the jewelry that was in her jewelry box. Lisa advised Detective 
Gorcowski that KEA and she had legitimately purchased approximately fifteen 
(15) pocket watches over the years. Lisa Keys stated that during this 
conversation that she believed all the Elgin pocket watches were of a railroad 
design or theme. 

24)On October 27,2006, Lisa Keys stated that she can't remember how she knows 
that the watches were of railroad design, whether from KEA tellinn her - ~ 

her seeing the watches desim orfmmreadin~ about the theft of the watches 
from thehational Watch a& clock ~ollectok website. Lisa Keys stated that 
KEA's interest in anything concerning the railrosd stems from his grandfather; 
Beverlin, who work& for-the railroad. 
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25)Detective Gorcowski advised that he had conducted some additional 
investigation into the statements ma& to him by Li Keys in reference to the 
theft of the museum watches. Detdve Oorcowski obtained an inventory of the 
stolen watches and observed that a total of 15 watches had ken stolen. Also 
missing were four painted fancy'dials that were manufachid by the Elgin 
National Watch Company. The watches wnn all in two (2) displays at the Elgin 
Area Historical Society Museum in Elgin, nlinoiq located at 360 Park Skeet. 
These watches were part of a display which highlighted them becanse they were 
railroad watches. 

26) Detective Oorco\?rski advised that he was able to obtain KEA's cellular 
telephone records, credit card records and hotel receipts fmm Lisa Keys. 
Detective Gorcowski provided copies of these records to your Mmt .  
Detective Gomwski advised of the following notable activity: 

a) Veriwn Wireless cell phone records for June 9,2005 through 
June 15,2005. 

On June 10,2005, at approximately 5:39 p.m., a phone call originated 
from Chicago, Illinois to the La Quinta Inn in Hoffian Estates, 
Illinois. 

On June 10,2005, at approximately 10:30 pm,  a phone call was 
placed from Chicago, Illinois, to the Chili's Restaurant in Hof6uan 
Estates, nlinois. 

On June l I ,  2005, at approximately 4:41 p.m. a phone call was placed 
from Milwaukee, Wisconsin, to the Safehouse Restanrant in 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin. 

Daective Gorcowski advised that it appears that on ~ & e  10,2005, KEA arrives 
in the Chicago, Illinois, area. 

On June 11,2005, KEA is in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, refuming to the Chicago, 
Illinois, area in the late aRemom of Juae 12,2005. Duoing the evening of June 
12,2005, KEA leaves the Chicago, Illinois, area. 

On June 13,2005, in the early afternoon KEA is in Iowa according to cellular 
phone records. 



Detective Gorcowski advised that looking at these phone records according to 
the different cellular service towers. it amears thrd Kl?A made cellular 
telephone calls begiing on June 12,26&, from Onawa, Illinois; continuing 
through Davenport, Iowa; then Cedar Falls, Iowa; Newton, Iowa; Des Moines, 
Iowa; Omaha, Nebraska; Wiggins, Colorado; and ultimately on June 15,2005, 
cellular telephone calls aw behg made from Aurora, Colorado. l'kese cellular 
service towers follow the Interstate 80 corridor through Illinois, Iowa and 
Nebraska and intersect with the Interstate 76 corridor into Colorado, a direct 
 trip route from Chicago, Illinois, back to Aumra, Colorado. 

b) Capital One Credit Card statements: 

Detective Gorcowski advised that on June 11.2005, there were several charges 
in the Chicago, Illinois, area made agsiast a Capital One credit card that Lisa 
Keys stated was a credit card joint account with KEA. 

On June 09,2005, there was a charge for Safeway Fuel in Aurom, 
Colorado. 

Later that same day, June 9,2005, there was a charge in Lexington, 
Nebraska. 

On June 10,2005, there was acharge in Iowa. 

On June 11,2005, there was it is used in illiiis. 

On June 11,2005, KEA went to the Illinois Railway Museum, 7000 
Olson Road, Union, Illinois, which is approximately 22 miles 
notthwat of the City of Elgin. One of the primary mutes of travel 
would be on interstates or highways and the driving times would be 
approximately 25 minutes or less, baning mad delays. 

Detective Gorwwski advised that he had contacted the Illidis Railway 
Museum and obtained a wpy of the credit card receipt showing that the Capital 
One credit card iY4802132542834133. the credit card L i K e w  stated was a 
joint account with KEA, was used to by the 58.00 admissio~wsts to the 
Illino'i Railway Museum on June 11,2005, at approximately 1212 am. The 
signature on this receipt was "R. Keys". ~nd&eath this s i b m e  &e the 
words "traveling wllector". Lisa Keys stated that tke m d e r  the "traveling 
cofiector" is the name of KEA's, eBay seller identification HE uses to buy and 
sell items. 

Detective Gomwski advised that Lisa Keys stated to him was that KEA wanted 
to go to a spy museum in Wisconsin. Detective Gorcowski advised that the 
credit charge for the Safehouse in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, is actually a 
restaur;int and spy museum. 



The credit card receipts obtained fium Lisa Keys show that KEA: 

On June 10,2005, stayed at the La Quinta inn in Hoffman Estates and 
checked out on June 11.2005. 
On June 11,2005, snived stayed at the Red Roof Inn in Willowbrook, 
Illinois, a town to the west of Chicago, Illinois, off Interstate 55, and 
departing on June 12, ZOOS. 

? LVVJVB.*~ Detective Gowowski advised that he believes the thee of the Elgii . - .. --.- - . . .. - .  . .  
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border with the City of Elgis n l i i s ,  and that the La Quinta Inn is not 
very fir fmm the Elgin Area Historical Society Museum, appmximately 
less than a 12 minute drive away. 

Detective Gorcowski obtained a copy of the Elgin Area Historical Society 
Museum migistration log for June 11,2005, which shows two (2) separate 
visitors signed-in" on that day. One of the visitors was from "Dallas, 
Texas", and signed what appears to be their name as, "R Greenn or 
another last name variant beginuing with G and similar to Green. The 
handwriting was "very scribbled." 

Detective Gorcowski advised that ICE& was originally from Dallas, Texas. 
Detective Gorcowski advised that there is a section on the Museum 
registration log that asked how the person heard about the museum. The 
person who signed R. Green put down "AAA". Detective Gorcowski 
advised that on the hotel receipt for the Red Roof Inn in Willowbrook, 
Illinois, where KEA checked in on June 11,2005, an AAA discount was 
applied. 

27)Detective Gorcowski advised that Lisa Keys stated lhat KEA is a wllector and 
was a collector of some Elgin watches prior to the theft at the Elgin Area 
Hirical Society Museum, as well as a collector of military and railmad 
memorabilia 

28)On September 20,2006, Lisa Keys stated to your Affiant that she has been 
married to Robert John KEA, known to her previously as Robert John Keys, for 
the past twelve (12) years. Lisa Keys stated that she bas been separated from 
SEA since January 2006, when she moved to Mississippi. ldsa Keys stated that 
she and KEG jointly rented a townhouse at 4212 S. Fairplay Circle, Unit E, 
Aurora, Colorado. KEA and Keys both contributed tothe townhouse's rental 
deposit ($1,500) and dog o ~ n e ~ h i i  fee (SOD), but LisaKeys stated that she 
paid the monthly rental fee of $1,200 bccausc KEA didn't work. 



29)LisaKeys stated that in Novrmba 2005, KEA and she visited Estes Park, 
Colorado, and stayed at the Stanley Hotel. Lisa Keys stated that while there, 
they toured the Estas Park Museum, where the Leman Trade Rifle was on 
display. Lisa Keys stated that KEA commented on the Lemm Trade Rifle and 
paid extra attention to it, strning at the 4 1  mounted Lemm Trade Rifle for 
what she described as an extremely long time. 

30) Lisa Keys stated that from December 21,2005, through December 30,2005, she 
visited her family in Mississippi without KEA. Lisa Keys stated that upon her 
return home to their townhouse in Aurom, KEA told her that HE had returned to 
the Estes Park Museum on HIS own and stole the dispIayed Leman Trade Rifle. 
Lisa Keys stated that KEA showed her the stolen Lcmw T d e  Rifle. Lisa Keys 
stated that KEA is an avid collector and once HE becomes interested in a 
subject, such as percussion rifles, HE will become completely involved in 
colleding the items of that interest Lisa Keys stated that KEA purchased a 
Kentucky Long Rifle replica prior to stealing the Leman Trade Rifle. Lisa Keys 
stated that the Leman Trade Rifle KEA stole and that she observed was a little 
shorter than the Kentucky Long Rifle, but had a similar wood grained stock. 

31) Lisa Keys stated that KEA is a collector and would not sell the Leman Trade 
Rifle nor show it anyone. Lisa Keys stated that KEA keeps the Leman Trade 
Rifle in acloset at the 4212 S. Fairplay Circle, Unit E. Aurora, Colorado, 
townhouse. Lisa Keys stated that KEA applied for and obtained a Capital One 
small business account VISA credit card and identifies HIMSELF as a 
"traveling collector." 

32) On October 27,2006, Lisa Keys stated that KEA had the stolen Leman Trade 
Rifle repaired by a close friend who she cannot remember is last name. His first 
name is "Rick" and his wife's name is "Debbie". KEA had Rick repair what 
she believes was the metal part of the Leman Trade Rifle above the trigger. 
Lisa Keys stated that she paid Rick by pernod check on or about January 22, 
2006, in a possible amount of $300.00 for the repair. 

33)Lisa Keys stated that after reviewing KEA's Capital One small business account 
VISA credit card statement, she noticed that KEA, after HE had stolen the 
Leman Trade Rifle fmm thi Estes ParkMuseua k Jan- 5.2006. 
subscribed to the Estes Psrk Trail Gazette, the ~ o w n  of ES& park  paper. 
Lisa Keys stated that this is something that KEA does to memorialize HIS the% 
Keys &ted that on June 27,2005, did the same thing after the Elgin Area 
Historical Society Museum theft by subscribing to the Moline Dispatch 
Newspaper, memorializing HIS Elgin Area Historical Sooiety Museum theft. 
Keys provided copies of the Capital One small business account VISA bills. 



34) Lisa Keys stated that she reviewed KEA's Amra townhouse Quest telephone 
bill (303-627-1 820) and Verizon Winless cellulat telephone bill (720-203- 
6971). LisaKeys states that there is an absence of telephone actihty on the 
townhouse Quest telephone bill between December 22,2005 and December 26, 
2005, but on the V h n  Wireless cellulartelephone bill there is acellular call 
on Decembcr 23,2005, at 11 :43 am, to an Estes Park, Colorado, phone number, 
(970) 5866256, for one (1) minute. The Estcs Park Museum telephone number 
is (970) 586-6256. Keys provided copies ofthe Quest and Veriwn Wiless  
bills. 

3S)Lisa Keys stated that KEA stated to her that you could conceal a lot of stolen 
items under the long trench coat that KEA owns and wears. Lisa Keys stated 
that she believes that KEA also possesses a fake hollowed out portable oxygen 
tank that HE uses to conceal items that HE has stolen. 

36) LisaKeys stated that she is not aware of any off-site storage facilities or safe 
deposit boxes that KEA has rented or obtained in or around Aurora, Colorado. 

37)Lisa Keys stated that KEA's primary residence is located at 4212 S. Fairplay 
Circle, Aurora, Colorado, and she is not aware of any other rented or purchased 
residences or dwellings belonging to KEA. 

38) Your Affiant knows from the execution of other search wanants and the 
investigation of other similar criminal cases involving the theft of cultural and 
unique items; such as, the hman Trade Ritle and the Elgin pocket watches, that 
these types of collectors become fmated and obsessed in obtaining these items 
for their own personal collections and that these collections are not sold for 
monetary but are maintained and held by the collector for generations as a 
personal tmsure and are a matter of pride and accomplishment to be added to at 
every opportunity. lhese types of &lectors will regularly keep their 
collections in their primary residences allowing them to view and handle the 
items within their collections often. 

39)Detective Goroowski advised that using KEA's self proclaimed title of 
kvel ing collector" and the information from Lisa Keys that KEA has bought 
and sold items on eBay conducted a search of buyers and sellers through eBay 
with the screen name of "traveling collector". Gorcowski advised that two (2) 
Colorado eBay members used the following names: 

Travelingcollector (106) last sold an item on eBay around March 30,2004, and 
Travelingcollecton (195) last sold an item on eBay mund June 10,2005. 
These last sales occurred before the theft of the Leman Trade Rifle and Elgin 
pocket watches. 



40)Lisa Keys stated to your Af6aat that KEA purchased through h a  two (2) 
revolvers; a Ruger .38 caliber blued revolver with ~ b b e r  grips and a Colt 
Python .38 caliber revolver, at a gun show in Denver, ColoraQ, sometime in 
2005. Lisa Keys stated that KEA wanted her to choose which of these revolvers 
she wanted to keep for her protection Keys stated that she chose the Colt 
Python revolver and that KEA kept the Ruger revolver. Lisa Keys stated that 
KEA keeps the Ruger revolver for HIS use and keeps this firearm at 4212 S. 
Fairplay Circle, Unit E, Aurora, Colorado, in probably the upstairs bedroom. 

41) The St-, Ruger and Connpany opened its doon in 1949 in Southport, 
Connecticut, and now has additional madi&&g plants in Newport, New 
Hampshire, and Prescott, Arizona All R u p  6rearms sent or transported to 
Colorado travel in interstate commerce. 

Sam Colt was issued a U.S. patent in 1836 for the Colt firearm. In 1836, Colt's 
tirst plant was located in Paterson, New Jersey. Colt Manufacturing Company's 
plant is now lmted in Hartford, Connecticut All Colt firearms sent or 
aansported to Colorado travel in interstate commerce. 

42) On October 13,2006, Curator Becky Latanich, Estes Park Museum, Estes Park, 
Colorado, advised that the Estes Park Museum's telephone number is: (970) 
586-6256. Latanich advised that during the winter months the Museum 
maintains only a minimum staE, which sometimes allows for a lone staff 
memba on the h n t  door reception desk Latanich advised Ulat the Leman 
Trade Rifle was discovered stolen on January 3 1,2006, but on or about January 
20,2006, a large tour group visited the Museum and their photographs of the 
Leman Trade Rifle exhibit showed that the Rifle had been stolen prior to that 
date. Latanich advised that on January 9,2006, surveillance camera installation 
wo~kman began installine! a video surveillance svstem in the Museum but thev 
too indieahithat the ~ e & m  Tmde ~ i f l e  may have been stolen prior k their * 

startinn date. Rior to the surveillance svstem installation com~letion on 
~anua& 13,2006, no surveillance system was in-place at the hiuseurn. L.atanich 
advised that during the winter months the Museum is officially open Fridays, 
Saturdays and Sundays, but during the 0 t h  days they are unofficially open and 
have found visitors touring the Museum uubeknownst (0 them. Latanich 
advised that the Museum was closed on Christmas day, December 25,2005. 

43) Latanich advised that a review of the Estes Park Museum's 2005 Guest Register 
revealed that on November20,2M)5, ''Lisa & Bob Keys", from "Denver", party 
of '2': signed the Guest Register. Latanieh provided copies of this Estes Park 
Museum 2005 Guest Register. 

44)Latanich provided a copy of the Estes Park Museum floor plan. The Leman 
Trade Rifle display area is away and not visible h m  the front door recaption 
desk or rear museum staff oftices or other common employee break spaces. 



45)On October 18,2006, Special Ageat Rebecca Sauerhaft, Alcohol Tobacco and 
F i  provided a copy of United States Dbict Couct, District of Colorado, 
Judgment in a Cn'minal Case, Case Number: 91-CR-370-RB, USM Nmber: 
32812413, date imposition of judgment; April 8,2005, in whichRobert L. 
Anderson, aka; Robert John Keys (Robert John KEA) was convicted of Title 18 
United States Code, Section 1344; Fraud, and Titie 18 United States Code, 
Section 1542; False Statement in the Application and Use of a Passport, both 
felony offenses. 

46) On October 19,2006, Special Agent Rebecca Sauerhaft, Alcohol, Tobacco and 
Firearms, pmvidcd a wpy of ~r&boe County, Colorado, District Court 
Judgment, Case Number DO031 978CROO6683, in which Robat J. Beverlii 

47)(Robett Jon KEA) was convicted on Jammy 4,2005, of Felony Menacing - 
reaVsimulated weapon, under Colorado Statute 18-3-206(1)(a)@). 

48) Your Afiiant has received the following information from Special Agent 
Rebecca Sauerhaft, Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms, who told me that she has 
been an Agent for over 6 years; that she has participated in many executions of 
search warrants for firearms violations; that she knows that most people store 
their firearms in their hornas; tha~ persons who possess firearms usually possess 
other items related to firearms. such as: mm cases. ammunition. ammunition 
magazines, holsters, spare par&, cleaniG equipm&t, photo&hs of firearms 
and receipts for the purchase of these items; that the ATF National Academy 
teaches thal most ~deral  Circuit Coun of Appeal have held that it is ~ e a s o ~ b l e  
to believe that persons normally store their firearms in their homes; that she has 
learned that persons who are avid fuearms enthusiasts, whether they m hunters, 
shooting competitors, or unlawfUl collectors, rarely if ever abandon their 
enthusiasm for fmarms possession. 

49) On October 27,2006, a search wamnt was signed by United States Uagistrate 
Judge Boyd N. Boland, for the District of Colorado. 

5O)Oo October 3 1,2006, this search warrant was executed against the residence of 
Robert John KEA located at 4212 S. Fairplay Circle, Unit E, Aurora, Colorado. 
During the search of the residence evidence was found ta suppod that KEA had 
traveled to the Elgin, lllinoiq area in Jme 2005, the timeframe for the Elgin 
Area Historical Society Museum theft of the f i h  (15) Elgin National 
Watches in the form of documents. 

The fake portable oxygen tank which wmes apart into two pieces and is 
hollowed out to accept stolen items was also recovered. 

Original newspapa articles reported in the Estes Park Trail Gazette of the Estes 
Park Museum theft of the Lemm Trade Rifle we-re also recovered. 
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Numemus fraudulent idemcations with KEA's photograph appearing on them 
were found dona with a birth cettifictlte and social security card issued to a 
person not KEA.- 

51) During the search further investigation revealed that KEA had rented a self 
storage unit at U*STORE*lT, 1800 S. Chambers Road, Aurora, Colorado, and 
had recently transferred ownership to his brother, Lawrence Cook, of Millsap, 
Texas, on or about September23,2006. Further investigation revealed that 
KEA last visited the starage unit on or about October 17,2006. LBwrence Cook 
voluntarily gave verbal permission to search storage unit 53. Cook advised that 
he no personal belongings within Uait 53 and that KEA had signed ownership 
of s tom unit 53 over to him so his brother could have a m  to KEA's 
property that KEA had moved to that storage unit in mdertbat his esbanged 
wife, Lisa Keys, could gain possession of them. 

52)On October 31,2006, a search of U'STORE'IT, Unit 53.1800 S. Chambers 
Road, Aumra, Colorado, revealed the stolen Egtes Park Museum Laman Trade 
Rifle, eight (8) of the fifteen (15) Elgin watches stolen from the Elgin Area 
Historical Society Museum confirmed by serial numbers, and the following 
modem firearms, all of which have traveled in interstate commerce: 

Smith and Wesson, Model 36, -38 caliber 5-shot revolver, mial 
number 5885654 
Was loaded with 5 rounds of Federal .38 special ammunition 

Winchester, Model 294.22 caliber rifle, serial number 5104221 1 

Universal, Model MI, .30 caliber rifle, serial number 211479 

Winchester, Defender Model, 12 gauge shotgun, serial number 
L2175046 

Walther, Model PPKtS, 9 mm1.380 caliber pistol, serial number 
S129149 

Smith and Wes60n, Model 144.38 calibu 6+0t revolver, serial 
number 19K93 16 

 rug^ Model SP101, .357 caliber 5-shot revolver, serial number 
573-3 1669 

Beretta, Model 92FS. 9 mm pistol, serial number BER4334422 

Walther, Model PPKIS, 9 mm1.380 caliber pistol, serial number 
SI 64705 

American Derringer Corp., 2-shot deninger, .44 caliber, serial 
number 066046 
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Colt, Government Model. .45 caliber pistol, atr ial  numba SS28109E 

Ruger, Model GP100, .357 caliber &shot revohw, said number 
174-82298 

Smith and Wesson, Model 31-1, .32 caliber &shot revolver, serial 
munber 22940 

Ruger, Blackhawk model, .41 caliber 6-shot revolver, serial number 
7749 

Smith and Wesson, Model 36-1, .38 caliber 5-shot revolver, serial 
number J712687 

Ruger, New Model Blackhawk, .357 caliber 6-shot revolver, serial 
number 33-09456 

Ruger, Blackhawk Model, .30 caliber &hot revolvw, serial number 
50-10924 

Walther, Model PPWS, 9 mm pistol, serial number 189036s 

Marlin, Model 39, 22 caliber rifle, sarial number &own 

Mossberg, Model 352KB, .22 caliber rifle, serial number unknown 

Colt, hammerless, .380 caliber pistol, serial number unknown 

Unknown Manuf~cturer, Unknown Model, 6-shot revolver wl 
octagonal barrel, serial number unknown 

Sten, MK 11, unknown caliber rifle, serial numbet unknown 

Sten, MKII, unknown caliber rifle, serial numbe.r unknown 

Unknown manufltcnrrcr, Model MP 40, unknown caliber, serial 
number unknown 

Unknown manufacturer, unknown model, .45 caliber rifle, serial 
number unknown 

Unknown rine 

Unknown pistol 



53) Also discovered were numerous rounds of assorted caliber ammunition. 

I respectfully submit that: 

54)- upon the information stated above, I believe probable cause exists that 
violations of Title 18 United States Code, Section 641 have been committed by 
Robert John KEA. 

55) Based upon the infonnation stated above, I believe probable cause exists that 
violations of Title 18 United States Code, Section2314 have been committed by 
Robert John KEA. 

56) Based upon the information stated above, I believe probable cause exists that 
violations of Title I8 United States Code. Section 922M have been wmmitted .- 
by Robert John KEA. 

I declare under the penalty of perjury that the information set forth above is true and 
comet to the best of m y  knowledge and belief. 

~~termoun-&in Regional Office - Denver 
rd 

Sworn before me this 3 day of November, 2006, 

4f. &,-.a4 
U. S. Magistrate Judge 



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

Miscellaneous Case No. 06-mj-01236 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. ROBERT JOHN KEA, 
aWa Robert J. Keys, 
&a Robert John Keys, 
aMa Robert L. Anderson, 
aMa Robert John Beverlin, 
&a Robert John Cook, 

Defendant. 

MOTION T O  DISMISS COMPLAINT 

The United States of America, by Troy A. Eid, United States Attorney for the District of 

Colorado, by and through Joseph Mackey, Assistant United States Attorney, hereby moves the 

Court to dismiss the above-captioned Complaint. 

The government makes this request because the defendant, who was a fugitive, is now 

deceased and successful prosecution will not be possible 

Wherefore, the United States respectfully requests that the Complaint be dismissed. 

Respectfully submitted, 

TROY A. EID 
United States Attorney 

By: s/ Joseph Mackey 
JOSEPH MACKEY 
Assistant United States Attorney 
1225 Seventeenth Street, Suite 700 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
Telephone: (303) 454-0100 
Facsimile: (303) 454-0404 
E-mail: Joseph.Mackey@,usdoi.gov 
Attorney for Government 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 2 day of November, 2006,I electronically filed the 
foregoing MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF 
system which will send notification of such filing to the following e-mail addresses: 

sl Jennifer Beed 
JENNIFER BEED 
Legal Assistant 
U.S. Attorney's Office 
1225 Seventeenth Street, Suite 700 
Denver, CO 80202 
Phone: 303-454-01 15 
Fax: 303-454-0406 
E-mail: Jennifer.Beed2@usdoi.gov 


